THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION  
ORDER OF THE APPELLATE PANEL

---

WCC FILE NO.: 1404431

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2015-001169

---

**RECEIVED**  
NOV 25 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

Wanda Weaver, Employee, ..... Appellant,

v.

SC Dept. of Disabilities and Special Needs, Employer, and State Accident Fund,  
Carrier, Defendants,

Of whom SC Dept. of Disabilities and Special Needs is the..... Respondent.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

H. Thad White, Jr.  
LUCAS, WARR AND WHITE  
2917 West Palmetto Street  
Florence, South Carolina 29501  
(843) 665-8187  
Attorney for Appellant

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN REVERSING THE ORDER OF THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER BY DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROVING AN INJURY BY ACCIDENT OR AGGRAVATION OF HER PRE-EXISTING CONDITION
  
- II. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO REMAND THE CASE TO THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER FOR A MEDICAL EVALUATION TO DETERMINE CAUSATION AS RECOMMENDED BY THE AUTHORIZED TREATING PHYSICIAN

## **STATEMENT OF CASE**

This Workers Compensation Action was commenced on August 13, 2014 against Respondents with the filing of Form 50, Request for Hearing with WCC File Number 1404431.

This claim was heard before the Single Commissioner on October 8, 2014. The Single Commissioner, by Order dated October 28, 2014, concluded that Appellant sustained a compensable injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment and awarded benefits.

Respondent filed a Form 30, Request for Commission Review on November 11, 2014. The Full Commission hearing was held on February 25, 2015. The Full Commission reversed the Decision and Order of the Single Commissioner by Order filed April 27, 2015.

Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal on May 26, 2015.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is a fifty-nine year old woman who is approximately five feet tall and has worked as an LPN since 1992. (R. p. 43, ll. 8-9). She worked for the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs for two years with special needs patients that are autistic and/or mentally retarded. On April 11, 2014, Appellant was giving out medications when an adult male patient that was approximately five feet ten inches tall came up behind her and grabbed her left arm and twisted and jerked it behind her. (R. p. 46, l. 12-p. 47, l. 2). Appellant felt something pop or snap and felt immediate pain in her left shoulder. (R. p. 47, l. 1). Appellant reported the injury to her supervisor, Vicky Leeke who is an RN and also the Director of Nursing. (R. p. 44, ll. 5-10).

Appellant was sent to Dr. June Jones at McLeod Occupational Health on that same day and Dr. Jones diagnosed Appellant with a rotator cuff strain, gave Appellant medication for pain and placed Appellant on work restrictions. (R. pp. 78-79). Appellant returned to Dr. Jones on April 17, 2014 and the diagnosis was rotator cuff syndrome of the left shoulder. Dr. Jones order physical therapy and Naproxen for pain and continued Appellant's work restrictions. (R. pp. 90-91).

Appellant reported to her supervisor that they were going to start her on physical therapy. Her supervisor questioned whether they were going to obtain an x-ray or MRI and stated "how are they going to treat you if they don't know what they're treating?" Appellant's supervisor tried to get Appellant an MRI but

was not successful which delayed Appellant's physical therapy for two weeks. (R. p. 47, ll. 23-24).

Appellant continued treating with Dr. Jones and at each visit the diagnosis was always rotator cuff strain/syndrome. Dr. Jones gave prescriptions, ordered physical therapy and continued work restrictions. (R. pp. 75-120). On Appellant's June 9, 2014 visit, Dr. Jones stopped physical therapy and ordered an MRI (R. pp. 112-113).

Appellant last saw Dr. Jones on June 24, 2014 and the MRI results were discussed. The MRI showed multiple significant changes in the left shoulder and Dr. Jones did not believe that all of the changes were as a result of this injury. Dr. Jones referred Appellant to Dr. Kyle Watford, an orthopedic surgeon for an evaluation. (R. pp. 117-120).

While Appellant was waiting for her appointment with Dr. Watford to be authorized her claim was denied. (R. p. 51, ll. 17-21). Appellant tried to see Dr. Watford but was unable to so her family doctor, Dr. Daniel Hyler referred her to Dr. Elvington at Pee Dee Orthopaedic Associates. (R. p. 49, l. 22- p. 50, l. 24,). Dr. Elvington has given her a cortisone shot and prescribed physical therapy. (R. p. 51, ll. 9-11). Appellant is still on work restrictions and the employer has been unable to provide light duty work. (R. p. 51, l. 23-p. 52, l. 10).

Prior to her April 11, 2014 injury, Appellant has never had any problems with her left shoulder and has never filed a workers' compensation claim. (R. p. 52, ll. 11-18).

## ARGUMENT

I. **WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN REVERSING THE ORDER OF THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER BY DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROVING AN INJURY BY ACCIDENT OR AGGRAVATION OF HER PRE-EXISTING CONDITION.**

The Full Commission erred in finding that Appellant failed to meet her burden of proving an injury by accident. There is no question that Appellant sustained an injury by accident.

This is an admitted claim in which Respondents deny the extent of Appellant's injury. Respondents' counsel stated, "The position of the State Accident Fund and the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs is that although the...my clients indicate that yes, there was an injury by accident, that the extent of Ms. Weaver's injuries are not causally related to her work." (R. p. 40, l. 25-p. 41, l. 12). Additionally, Respondents claim in their Form 58 brief that although Appellant sustained an injury by accident "medical evidence supports Claimant has a pre-existing condition that was not aggravated by the alleged accident." (R. p. 13). As support for this position Respondents rely on the report of Dr. June Jones dated June 24, 2014 (R. pp. 117-120). Dr. Jones states, "The MRI shows multiple significant changes in the left shoulder. All of the changes did not occur from this injury of pulling her left arm backwards. Writer will recommend that you refer her to an orthopedic surgeon who will evaluate this employee and give an opinion on whether this occurred from the injury the employee describes. This explains why the employee wanted the writer to get an MRI earlier. She told her therapist she should be scheduled for

an MRI before she starts PT. The employee denies any previous injury to the left shoulder. There are obvious changes in the shoulder that have been there for sometime (years). Will make referral to Dr. Watford for evaluation.” (R. p. 117). Dr. Jones treated Appellant from April 11, 2014 to June 24, 2014 and at each visit indicated that this was a work-related accident and diagnosed Appellant with rotator cuff syndrome/strain of the left shoulder. Dr. Jones prescribed medications and ordered physical therapy. (R. pp. 75-120).

The overwhelming evidence in the record supports a finding that Appellant’s problems with her left shoulder were caused and/or aggravated by her work related accident on April 11, 2014:

- 1) Appellant’s description of the accident in which she states that she felt something pop or snap and felt immediate pain. (R. p. 47, l. 1).
- 2) At every visit, Dr. Jones diagnosed Appellant with left rotator cuff strain/syndrome and kept Appellant on work restrictions.
- 3) The MRI report which revealed multiple significant problems with Appellant’s left shoulder including several tears. The radiologist, Dr. Zachary Kilpatrick does not indicate in his report that this was an old injury. (R. pp. 155-156).
- 4) Appellant is 59 years old and has never had any prior problems with her left shoulder.
- 5) Appellant has worked for employer, South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs for two years with no prior complaints.
- 6) Appellant has never filed a workers’ compensation claim before.

7) Dr. Jones, in her last note dated June 24, 2014, states "The MRI shows multiple significant changes in the left shoulder. All of the changes did not occur from this injury of pulling her left arm backwards." Significantly, Dr. Jones has never stated that none of Appellant's shoulder problems came from the April 11, 2014 injury; simply that she did not believe all of the problems did. Dr. Jones then referred Appellant to Dr. Kyle Watford, an orthopedic surgeon for further evaluation. Dr. Jones also questioned why Appellant wanted an MRI earlier; however, it was not Appellant but Appellant's supervisor, a RN and the Director of Nursing, who thought that Appellant should have an MRI before beginning physical therapy.

Based on Dr. Jones' last report, Respondents denied Appellant's case altogether, stopped temporary total, would not authorize the treatment or referral as recommended by the authorized treating physician, and the Employer would not let her come back to work because she was still on restrictions. This is when Appellant was forced to file her first workers' compensation claim.

This overwhelming evidence in the record supports that Appellant's left shoulder problems were caused and/or aggravated by her April 11, 2014 injury at work.

**II. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO REMAND THE CASE TO THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER FOR A MEDICAL EVALUATION TO DETERMINE CAUSATION AS RECOMMENDED BY THE AUTHORIZED TREATING PHYSICIAN.**

The decision and Order of the Full Commission fails to address the issue of a medical evaluation to determine causation as presented by Respondents in

their Form 30 Request for Commission Review. Respondents sought a determination of whether the hearing Commissioner erred in not limiting the Order to a medical evaluation to determine causation.

The Full Commission reversed the Order of the Single Commissioner relying on a portion of Dr. Jones' report without considering the report as a whole. Dr. Jones states, "The MRI shows multiple significant changes in the left shoulder. All of the changes did not occur from this injury of pulling her left arm backwards." (R. p. 117). Significantly, Dr. Jones never said none of the charges occurred from this injury. By stating that all of the changes did not occur, she is implying that some of the changes, as shown on the MRI, are related to this injury. She goes on to recommend a referral to an orthopedist and actually does refer Appellant to Dr. Kyle Watford, an orthopedic surgeon, for an evaluation to determine causation.

In the present case, the Full Commission denied Appellant the referral to the orthopedic surgeon as recommended by the authorized treating physician for an opinion on causation then used the lack of opinion as justification for denying benefits to the injured worker.

Section 42-9-35 applies to the aggravation of a pre-existing condition and provides in relevant part:

- (A) The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that:
  - (1) the subsequent injury aggravated the pre-existing condition or permanent physical impairment; or
  - (2) the pre-existing condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.

(B) The Commission may award compensation benefits to an employee who has a permanent physical impairment or pre-existing condition and who incurs a *subsequent disability* from an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment for the resulting disability of the permanent physical impairment or pre-existing condition and the subsequent injury. S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-35 (Supp.2010).

“Statutory interpretation is a question of law.” *Hopper v. Terry Hunt Constr.*, 373 S.C. 475, 479, 646 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct.App.2007). This court is free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder.” *Pressley v. REA Constr. Co.*, 374 S.C. 283, 287-88, 648 S.E.2d 301, 303 (Ct.App.2007). *Murphy v. Coming*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454 (S.C. App., 2011).

The Administrative Procedures Act (the APA) “governs appellate review of a final decision from an administrative agency.” *Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines*, 373 S.C. 422, 427, 645 S.E.2d 424, 428 (2007) (citation omitted); see S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-310, et. seq. (Supp. 2011). Under the APA, this Court “may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of facts.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5); *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000) (the Commission is tasked with finding facts, evaluating the credibility of the witnesses, and assigning weight to the evidence).

The Court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5)(a)-(f).

*Crisp v. SouthCo., Inc.* (S.C. 2013).

In the present case, the Full Commission erred as a matter of law in denying Appellant the referral to the orthopedic surgeon as recommended by the authorized treating physician and using the lack of opinion as justification for denying benefits to the injured worker.

Additionally, substantial rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced as the Full Commission's findings and Order are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.

### **CONCLUSION**

Appellant, Wanda Weaver, by and through her undersigned attorney, would respectfully request that this Court reverse the rulings of the Worker's Compensation Commission and award Appellant benefits for the reasons stated in this brief. In the alternative, Appellant would respectfully request that this Court remand the case to the Workers' Compensation Commission for an

evaluation by the orthopedic surgeon to determine causation as recommended  
by the authorized treating physician.