THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner

RECEIVED
NOV 18 2015
SC Court of Appeals

WCC File No. 1404431

Appellate Case No. 2015-001169

Wanda Weaver, Employee, Appellant,

v.

SC Dept. of Disabilities and Special Needs, Employer, and State Accident Fund,
Carrier, Defendants,

Of whom SC Dept. of Disabilities and Special Needs is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ASHLEY R. KIRKHAM
akirkham@collinsandlacy.com
KERRI A. RUPERT
krupert@collinsandlacy.com
COLLINS & LACY, P.C.
Post Office Box 12487
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 256-2660 (Voice)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Appellate Panel Properly Found Appellant Failed to Prove by a Preponderance of the Evidence that She Suffered a Compensable Injury?
- II. Did Appellant Preserve the Issue of Whether the Appellate Panel Erred in Failing to Remand the Case to the Single Commissioner for a Medical Evaluation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a workers' compensation claim filed by Appellant Wanda Weaver, who alleged she suffered injuries to her neck and left shoulder from an accident that occurred on April 11, 2014, while employed by the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs ("the Department"). (R. pp. 8, 12). Appellant filed a Form 50 Request for a Hearing in August 2014. (R. p. 12).

In October 2014, a hearing was held before the Single Commissioner, where the Department admitted a minor accident occurred, but she asserted Appellant's injury to her left shoulder was unrelated to the minor accident due to her extensive pre-existing condition. (R. p. 8-9). On October 28, 2014, the Single Commissioner issued an order, finding Appellant suffered a compensable injury, which entitled her to temporary total disability benefits and medical treatment by Dr. Robert Elvington of Pee Dee Orthopedic Associates. (R. p. 10).

In November 2014, the Department timely filed a Form 30 Request for review by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel ("the Appellate Panel"). The Appellate Panel held a hearing in February 2015. The Department argued the Single Commissioner's order should be reversed because Appellant did not prove the April 2014 accident aggravated her pre-existing condition. (R. p. 19, ll. 21-25). In the event the Appellate Panel found Appellant's

injury was compensable, the Department asserted the Single Commissioner erred in selecting Dr. Elvington as the medical provider because it took away the Department's right to choose the medical provider.¹ (R. p. 22, ll. 20-p. 23, ll. 17).

In an order dated April 27, 2015, the Appellate Panel reversed the Single Commissioner, finding Appellant did not meet her burden of proving the April 2014 accident aggravated her pre-existing left shoulder condition. (R. p. 4). Accordingly, the Appellate panel denied Appellant's claim for temporary benefits and medical treatment. (R. p. 5).

This appeal follows.

¹ The Department had selected a different orthopedic surgeon, Dr. Kyle Watford, who was a referral from the Department's authorized medical provider.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant has been a nurse since 1992 and she began working for the Department around 2011, where she cared for mentally disabled adults. (R. p. 43, ll. 12-19; R. p. 44, ll. 3-5). On the morning of April 11, 2014, Appellant was passing out medications when a male patient grabbed her arm. (R. p. 44, ll. 18-p. 46, ll. 9). Appellant believed the patient was trying to get her attention because she often spoke to him around meal time to encourage the patient to eat more food. (R. p. 45, ll. 12-p. 46, ll. 9). The patient was standing to the left of Appellant and slightly behind her. (R. p. 45, ll. 16-18). Appellant claimed she “felt something like pop or snap” when he pulled her left arm. (R. p. 46, ll. 23-p. 47, ll. 4).

She recalled the patient was about 5’10” tall and weighed around 120 pounds. (R. p. 46, ll. 12-15). Appellant is approximately 5’ tall. (R. p. 46, ll. 18). Appellant testified she had a prior workplace injury in 1999, which resulted in her having surgery and bone grafted along the right side of her neck. (R. p. 54, ll. 15-p. 55, ll. 4). Additionally, appellant broke her left wrist from a fall. (R. p. 55, ll. 5-8).

Following the accident, Appellant went to McLeod Occupational Health where she saw Dr. June Jones. (R. p. 75). Dr. Jones prescribed a pain reliever, directed Appellant to begin physical therapy, and instructed Appellant to limit use of her left arm. (R. pp. 75-76). Appellant began receiving physical therapy in May

2014, and the Department initially paid temporary total disability benefits and medical treatment. (R. p. 41, ll. 6-13; R. p. 121). The Department terminated disability benefits and medical treatment after receiving Dr. Jones's June 24 report, which indicated Appellant's injury to her left shoulder was a pre-existing condition and not causally related to the April 2014 accident. (R. p. 41, ll. 2-16). Dr. Jones's report stated:

The MRI [s]hows multiple significant changes in the left shoulder. All of the changes did not occur from this injury of pulling her left arm backwards. Writer will recommend that you refer her to an orthopedic surgeon who will evaluate this employee and give an opinion on whether this occurred from the injury the employee describes. This explains why the[] employee want[ed] the writer to get an MRI earlier.² She told her therapist she should be schedule[d] for an MRI before she starts PT. The employee denies any previous injury to the left shoulder. **There are obvious changes in the shoulder that have been there for some time (years).** [W]ill make a referral to Dr. [Kyle] Watford for evaluation.

(R. pp. 117, 120) (emphasis added).

Dr. Jones believed Appellant "knew she had significant damage" before the April 2014 accident occurred. (R. p. 121). Despite Dr. Jones's impressions,

² Appellant argues her supervisor had requested she receive to MRI before beginning physical therapy. (R. p. 47, ll. 16-25; App. Br. 7). Appellant's supervisor was not one of her medical providers. Dr. Jones's notes indicate Appellant requested the MRI and claimed her physical therapist required it. (R. p. 96). There are no records from Appellant's physical therapist requesting an MRI. (R. pp. 125-154).

Appellant claimed she never experienced any pain in her left shoulder prior to this accident. (R. p. 52, ll. 11-14).

At the hearing before the Single Commissioner, Appellant admitted there were no medical records indicating her shoulder injury was caused by the work accident. (R. p. 57, ll. 23-p. 58, ll. 1). After her claim was denied by the Department, she began receiving treatment from her family physician. (R. p. 57, ll. 14-16). There are no records in Claimant's APA submissions from her family physician. Her family physician referred her to Dr. Elvington, an orthopedic surgeon, at Pee Dee Orthopedic. (R. p. 50, ll. 18-p. 51, ll. 6). Appellant saw Dr. Elvington twice, but the only documentation Appellant provided to the Appellate Panel from Dr. Elvington was an out-of-work excuse. (R. p. 157).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The substantial evidence rule of the Administrative Procedures Act governs the standard of review in a workers' compensation decision. See e.g., Frame v. Resort Servs. Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 527, 593 S.E.2d 491, 494 (Ct. App. 2004); see also Murphy v. Owens Corning, 393 S.C. 77, 84, 710 S.E.2d 454, 458 (Ct. App. 2011) (applying the substantial evidence standard of review to the Commission's factual findings of whether a claimant is entitled to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing injury).

In an appeal from the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, this Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse only where the decision is affected by an error of law. Frame, 357 S.C. at 527, 593 S.E.2d at 494. This Court's review is limited to deciding whether the Commission's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. See Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981).

LAW/ANALYSIS

I. The Appellate Panel Properly Found Appellant Failed to Prove by a Preponderance of the Evidence That She Suffered a Compensable Injury.

“[I]t is always incumbent on the employee-claimant to prove that he or she has sustained an injury by accident, and demonstrate that he or she is entitled to benefits.” Crisp v. SouthCo., Inc., 401 S.C. 627, 645, 738 S.E.2d 835, 844 (2013). Appellate courts review “the Commission's factual findings of whether a claimant is entitled to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition under the substantial evidence standard of review.” Murphy, 393 S.C. at 86, 710 S.E.2d at 458.

Section 42-9-35 of the South Carolina Code applies to the aggravation of a pre-existing condition and provides in relevant part:

(A) The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that:

(1) the subsequent injury aggravated the pre-existing condition or permanent physical impairment; or

(2) the pre-existing condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.

(emphasis added).

The employee must still meet this burden of proof regardless of whether or not the employer knows of the pre-existing permanent disability. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35(D). The employee’s right to compensation for aggravation of a pre-

existing condition arises when the claimant has proven the dormant condition became disabling because of the aggravating injury. Murphy, 393 S.C. at 84, 710 S.E.2d at 458. However, a condition due solely to the natural progression of a pre-existing condition is not compensable. See Brown v. R.L. Jordan Oil Co., 291 S.C. 272, 275, 353 S.E.2d 280, 282 (1987). In Murphy, this Court found an employee was entitled to compensation under section 42-9-35 because the preponderance of the evidence showed a direct causal connection between the employee's workplace injury and the aggravation of her underlying neck condition. Id. at 86, 710 S.E.2d at 459.

Appellant argues the Appellate Panel should have assumed some of the changes shown in the MRI did occur as a result of the April 2014 accident because Dr. Jones's report indicated "all of the changes did not occur from this injury." (App. Br. 5-6). Appellant argues by stating "all of the changes did not occur from this injury" implies the possibility that some of the changes in her left shoulder could have been the result of the April 2014 accident. (App. Br. 5-6). Appellant's entire argument relies on assumptions and speculation. However, the Appellate Panel's decision cannot be based on surmise, conjecture, or speculation. Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 428, 737 S.E.2d 200, 206 (2012); Herndon v. Mills, Inc., 246 S.C. 201, 210, 143 S.E.2d 376, 381 (1965).

To prove she is entitled to compensation, Appellant must show the pre-existing condition with her left shoulder was aggravated by the April 2014 accident. See Murphy, 393 S.C. at 84, 710 S.E.2d at 458. Through her own submissions, Appellant has presented medical evidence showing proof of an extensive pre-existing condition in her left shoulder. (R. pp. 117, 120). Although she suffered a workplace accident in April 2014, Appellant failed to show the April 2014 accident was casually related to her shoulder injury. See id. at 86, 710 S.E.2d at 459 (upholding a finding the employee was entitled to compensation under section 42-9-35 because the preponderance of the evidence showed a direct causal connection between the employee's workplace injury and the aggravation of her underlying neck condition).

Based on the medical evidence, which was presented by Appellant, the Appellate Panel found she did not meet her burden of proving the April 2014 accident aggravated her pre-existing left shoulder condition. (R. pp. 4, 13). The Appellate Panel's finding was based on Dr. Jones's opinions that Appellant's extensive, pre-existing condition in the left shoulder had been present for years and Appellant knew of the condition with her left shoulder, and the fact that Appellant received treatment from two other physicians but did not present any evidence from them proving the pre-existing condition was aggravated by the April 2014 work accident. (R. 4).

Contrary to Appellant's arguments, the Appellate Panel cannot disregard medical evidence unless other competent evidence exists in the record. See Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2011). The medical evidence before the Appellate Panel was Dr. Jones's report that stated the MRI showed "multiple significant changes in the left shoulder" that did not occur because of the April 2014 accident. (R. pp. 117, 120). The only other evidence in the record was Appellant's own testimony and claim that she did not suffer a previous injury to the left shoulder; however, Dr. Jones discredited Appellant's claim back in June 2014 when she treated Appellant. (R. p. 120). Dr. Jones believed Appellant "knew she had significant damage" before this workplace accident occurred.³ (R. p. 120).

Additionally, Appellant had the opportunity to present medical evidence showing the April 2014 accident aggravated her pre-existing condition but failed to do so. See Crisp, 401 S.C. at 645, 738 S.E.2d at 844 ("[I]t is always incumbent on the employee-claimant to prove that he or she has sustained an injury by accident, and demonstrate that he or she is entitled to benefits."). Appellant testified she saw

³ Dr. Jones believed Appellant had requested an MRI earlier in her treatment because Appellant knew of her pre-existing shoulder condition. Appellant argues her supervisor had requested she receive to MRI before beginning physical therapy. (R. p. 47, ll. 16-25; App. Br. 7). Appellant's supervisor was not one of her medical providers. Dr. Jones's notes indicate Appellant requested the MRI and claimed her physical therapist required it. (R. p. 96). There are no records from Appellant's physical therapist requesting an MRI. (R. pp. 125-154).

two other doctors after the Department denied medical treatment and disability benefits, but the record is devoid of any reports from those doctors. (R. pp. 24, 75-157). The only record submitted by Appellant of her visit with Dr. Elvington, the orthopedic surgeon, was an out-of-work excuse. (R. p. 157). Accordingly, the Department requests this Court affirm the findings of the Appellate Panel because there is substantial evidence supporting the finding that Appellant was not entitled to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition.

II. Appellant Did Not Preserve the Issue of Whether the Appellate Panel Erred in Failing to Remand the Case to the Single Commissioner for a Medical Evaluation

Appellant argues the Appellate Panel erred by denying her referral to Dr. Watford, the orthopedic surgeon who Dr. Jones recommended, for an evaluation to determine causation. (App. Br. 8, 10). The issue of whether the Appellate Panel should have remanded the case to the Single Commissioner for a medical evaluation is not preserved for appellate review. See Stone v. Roadway Express, Employer, 367 S.C. 575, 582, 627 S.E.2d 695, 698 (2006) (providing an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the Workers' Compensation Commission to be preserved for appellate review). As Appellant states in her brief, "The decision and Order of the Full Commission fails to address the issue of a medical evaluation to determine causation" (App. Br. 7). To preserve an issue for appellate review, it must

be raised to and ruled on by the Appellate Panel. Id. Because the Appellate Panel did not address the issue of whether the Single Commissioner should have required a medical evaluation to determine causation, this issue is not preserved for this Court's review.

Not only did the Appellate Panel not rule upon this issue, but Appellant did not raise this issue. In her brief to the Appellate Panel, Appellant argued the Single Commissioner properly ordered she was entitled to medical treatment from Dr. Elvington, the orthopedic surgeon recommended by her family physician. (R. pp. 73-74). Now, Appellant argues she is entitled to a medical evaluation by Dr. Watford, who was recommended by the Department's authorized treater, Dr. Jones. (App. Br. 8, 10). Appellant never requested a medical evaluation, let alone one from Dr. Watford, until now. In fact, it was the Department who argued the Single Commissioner should have ordered a medical evaluation. (R. p. 64). Appellant cannot raise an issue on appeal that was argued by the Department. See Tupper v. Dorchester Co., 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997) (providing an appellant cannot bootstrap an issue for appeal by way of another party's objection); McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 359 S.C. 372, 597 S.E.2d 181 (Ct. App. 2004) (providing an appellant cannot raise an issue on appeal that was raised by the respondent at trial, but on which the appellant advanced no arguments to the trial court). Accordingly, this issue is not preserved.

Even if this issue is preserved, it is meritless. As a threshold matter, Appellant cites to the incorrect standard of review for this case. The issue of statutory interpretation is not before this Court. (App. Br. 9). Rather, the issue before the Court is whether there is any substantial evidence to support the Appellate Panel's findings that Appellant was not entitled to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition. See Murphy, 393 S.C. at 82, 710 S.E.2d at 456 ("But whether the facts of a case were correctly applied to a statute is a question of fact, subject to the substantial evidence standard."). As discussed above, there is substantial evidence supporting the Appellate Panel's finding that Appellant had an extensive pre-existing condition and she knew she had prior significant damage for some time before the work accident. See Frame, 357 S.C. at 527, 593 S.E.2d at 494 (providing this Court should not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact). Further, Appellant had the opportunity to present evidence showing causation, but she failed to do so. See Crisp, 401 S.C. at 645, 738 S.E.2d at 844 ("[I]t is always incumbent on the employee-claimant to prove that he or she has sustained an injury by accident, and demonstrate that he or she is entitled to benefits."); (R. p. 13). Appellant was treated by two physicians after the Department denied disability benefits and medical treatment, but she did not present any evidence from those physicians showing the April 2014 accident

aggravated her pre-existing condition. (R. pp. 75-157). Accordingly, even if this Court finds this issue is preserved, there is no need for a remand when Appellant had ample opportunity to meet her burden of proof before the Commission and failed to do so. See Byers v. Blumenthal Mills, 293 S.C. 82, 84, 358 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 1987) (denying an appellant's request for a remand to the Single Commissioner because there was no real probability that a remand would change the result).